1589

(Oct. 1990)
United States Department of the Interior
National Park Service

NATIONAL REGISTER OF HISTORIC PLACES
REGISTRATION FORM

1. NAME OF PROPERTY

HISTORIC NAME: St. Joseph Apace Mission Church
OTHER NAME/SITE NUMBER: St. Joseph Apache Mission; LA 20723

2. LOCATION

STREET & NUMBER: 626 Mission Trail NOT FOR PUBLICATION: N/A
CITY OR TOWN: Mescalero VICINITY: N/A

STATE: New Mexico CODE: NM  COUNTY: Otero CODE:035 ZIP CODE: 88340

3. STATE/FEDERAL AGENCY CERTIFICATION

As the designated authority under the National Historic Preservation Act, as amended, I hereby certify that this _x_nomination
___request for determination of eligibility meets the documentation standards for registering properties in the National Register of
Historic Places and meets the procedural and professional requirements set forth in 36 CFR Part 60. In my opinion, the property
_X_meets does not meet the National Register criteria. I recommend that this property be considered significant ___nationally
_x__statewide __locally. (___See continuation sheet for additional comments.)
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Sfgnature of certifying official Date

State Historic Preservation Officer

State or Federal agency and bureau

In my opinion, the property ___meets ___does not meet the National Register criteria.
(___See continuation sheet for additional comments.)

Signature of commenting or other official Date

State or Federal agency and bureau

4. NATIONAL PARK SERVICE CERTIFICATION

I hereby certify that this property is: Signature of the Keeper Date of Action
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___See continuation sheet.

_____determined eligible for the National Register
___See continuation sheet.

____determined not eligible for the National Register
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S. CLASSIFICATION

OWNERSHIP OF PROPERTY: Private

CATEGORY OF PROPERTY: Building

NUMBER OF RESOURCES WITHIN PROPERTY: CONTRIBUTING NONCONTRIBUTING
0 BUILDINGS

O SITES

3 STRUCTURES
0 OBJECTS

SO O

[em—

3 TOoTAL

NUMBER OF CONTRIBUTING RESOURCES PREVIOUSLY LISTED IN THE NATIONAL REGISTER: 0

NAME OF RELATED MULTIPLE PROPERTY LISTING: N/A

6. FUNCTION OR USE

HISTORIC FUNCTIONS: RELIGON/religious facility/church

CURRENT FUNCTIONS: RELIGION/religious facility/church

7. DESCRIPTION

ARCHITECTURAL CLASSIFICATION: LATE 19" and 20" CENTURY REVIVALS: Late Gothic Revival

MATERIALS: FOUNDATION STONE/Sandstone

WALLS STONE/Sandstone
ROOF TERRA COTTA
OTHER METAL (window frames, light fixtures); GLASS (art-glass windows);

WOOD (doors, furniture)

NARRATIVE DESCRIPTION (see continuation sheets 7-5 through 7-9).
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8. STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

APPLICABLE NATIONAL REGISTER CRITERIA

_ __A PROPERTY IS ASSOCIATED WITH EVENTS THAT HAVE MADE A SIGNIFICANT CONTRIBUTION TO THE BROAD
PATTERNS OF OUR HISTORY.

_X__B PROPERTY IS ASSOCIATED WITH THE LIVES OF PERSONS SIGNIFICANT IN OUR PAST.

_Xx__C PROPERTY EMBODIES THE DISTINCTIVE CHARACTERISTICS OF A TYPE, PERIOD, OR METHOD OF
CONSTRUCTION OR REPRESENTS THE WORK OF A MASTER, OR POSSESSES HIGH ARTISTIC VALUE, OR
REPRESENTS A SIGNIFICANT AND DISTINGUISHABLE ENTITY WHOSE COMPONENTS LACK INDIVIDUAL
DISTINCTION.

D PROPERTY HAS YIELDED, OR IS LIKELY TO YIELD, INFORMATION IMPORTANT IN PREHISTORY OR HISTORY.

CRITERIA CONSIDERATIONS: A, Religious Properties

AREAS OF SIGNIFICANCE: ARCHITECTURE; RELIGION

PERIOD OF SIGNIFICANCE: 1920-1954

SIGNIFICANT DATES: 1920; 1928; 1939; 1945; 1946

SIGNIFICANT PERSON: Braun, Father Albert A., O.F.M.

CULTURAL AFFILIATION: N/A

ARCHITECT/BUILDER: Stanton, William C., architect

NARRATIVE STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE (see continuation sheets 8-10 through 8-25).

9. MAJOR BIBLIOGRAPHIC REFERENCES

BIBLIOGRAPHY (see continuation sheets 9-26 through 9-28).
PREVIOUS DOCUMENTATION ON FILE (NPS): N/A
_ preliminary determination of individual listing (36 CFR 67) has been requested.
_ previously listed in the National Register
_ previously determined eligible by the National Register
_ designated a National Historic Landmark
_ recorded by Historic American Buildings Survey #
_ recorded by Historic American Engineering Record #
PRIMARY LOCATION OF ADDITIONAL DATA:
x State historic preservation office (Historic Preservation Division, Office of Cultural Affairs)
_ Other state agency
_ Federal agency
x Local government
_ University
x Other -- Specify Repository: Province of St. Barbara, Order of Franciscans Minor, Santa Barbara, Cal
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10. GEOGRAPHICAL DATA

ACREAGE OF PROPERTY: less than one acre

UTM REFERENCES  Zone Easting Northing
1 13 428425 3668729

VERBAL BOUNDARY DESCRIPTION (see continuation sheet 10-29 through 10-30)

BOUNDARY JUSTIFICATION (see continuation sheet 10-29 through 10-30)

11. FORM PREPARED BY

NAME/TITLE: Mary M. Serna, Restoration Administrator
James W. Steely, Consultant

ORGANIZATION: St. Joseph Apache Mission Restoration Project DATE: March 2004; revised
photographs, July 2004

STREET & NUMBER: 626 Mission Trail TELEPHONE: 505-464-4539

CITY OR TOWN: Mescalero STATE: NM Z1pP CODE: 88340

ADDITIONAL DOCUMENTATION

CONTINUATION SHEETS

MAPS (see attached Mescalero, N. Mex. Quadrangle 7.5-minute series U.S.G.S. topographic map)
Map of nominated property boundary (see continuation sheet 10-30)

PHOTOGRAPHS (see continuation sheet Photo-31)

ADDITIONAL ITEMS N/A

PROPERTY OWNER

NAME: Diocese of Las Cruces, Most Reverent Ricardo Ramirez, C.S.B.
STREET & NUMBER: 1280 Med Park Drive TELEPHONE: 505-524-3874

CITY OR TOWN: Las Cruces STATE: NM ZIpP CODE: 88005
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Description

Built between 1920 and 1939 on the stone floor of an estimated 200-1400 A.D. Jornada Mogollon-culture
prehistoric ruin, the Late Gothic Revival style St. Joseph Apache Mission Church dominates prominent ground
surrounded by the Sacramento Mountains and the drainage of the Rio Tularosa and South Rio Tularosa of
south-central New Mexico. St. Joseph Apache Mission, designed by Philadelphia architect William Stanton, is a
substantial Late Gothic Revival edifice. In plan, the Mission church sanctuary is in the shape of a cross, 131
feet long and 60 feet wide, terminated by eaves soaring 50 feet above the ground. The exterior and interior is
made of sandstone, a dense material roughly finished. The facade of St. Joseph Apache Mission Church faces
west with large double wooden doors, broad segmental arched transoms, and wrought-iron decorative trim,
flanked by stone buttresses and art-glass windows depicting St. Clare and St. Francis. The church and its
immediate setting retain a high degree of integrity as to their location, design, materials, workmanship, feeling
and association.

Dramatic views to and from the property include the surrounding mountains and White Sands far to the
west in the Tularosa Basin. The steep mountains that surround the Mission are covered with pifion, cedar,
juniper and conifer trees. The grounds around the Mission are covered with native plants, trees and wildflowers.
The remains of an apple orchard planted by church builder Father Albert Braun covers the property to the north,
and native oak and choke cherry trees separate the friary and the road up to the parking lot next to the Mission.
The Rio Tularosa flows north and wraps around the west side of the property, connecting with the South Rio
Tularosa that flows at its south side.

St. Joseph Apache Mission Church is a substantial, solid-sandstone wall, Late Gothic Revival building
following the stylistic definition of Marcus Whiffen (1976) and others. Its broad-arched windows and doorways
lack the characteristic centered point of typical Gothic arches, so the elegant segmental arches at Mescalero
merely hint at their broad-arched English Gothic origins (Photo 1). Whiffen described this Late Gothic
characteristic as typical of a progressive 20™ century architect who sought to develop the medieval style further
“into something new,” to “make the style his own.” “Late Gothic Revival buildings,” wrote Whiffen, “are
quieter and ‘smoother’ in design than those of the High Victorian Gothic” of the previous generation.
“Silhouettes are simpler, polychromy is rare... Late Gothic Revival churches are substantially built of masonry
— stone when it was practicable...” (Whiffen 1976: 173).

Philadelphia architect William Stanton’s design for the Mission church sprang from a number of well
publicized designs of the time. Particularly well known were Cram, Goodhue and Ferguson’s 1910 West Point
chapel and other new buildings at the U.S. Military Academy in New York, and Bertram Goodhue’s own proto-
modern works such as his 1912 First Baptist Church in Pittsburgh (Whiffen 1976; Whiffen and Koeper, 1931).
Arguably, Stanton’s design for Mescalero rode on a wave of advancing modernism that predicted the coming
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of Art Deco and simplification of complicated Old World styles, primarily in 1920s commercial and
governmental buildings but to a much lesser extent in American churches.

In plan, the St. Joseph Apache Mission Church sanctuary is the shape of a cross, 131 feet long and 60
feet wide, terminated by eaves soaring 50 feet above the ground (Figure 7-1). The main ridgeline measures 80
feet high, with the building’s highest point the cross atop the bell tower at 103 feet (Photo 2). The exterior and
interior sandstone is a dense material, roughly finished, quarried about four and one-half miles west from the
Best Estate outside the reservation (Emerson, 1980:81). Concrete capstones finish the parapet gables at each
cardinal direction. The window “traceries” are metal sash infilled with a simple repeating square module and
opaque lights; a large Roman cross of golden glass—evident during daylight only from the inside of the
church—fills the center bay of each large window set. Barrel-tile roofing materials render a multi-hued dapple
ranging from red to orange to off-white.

The facade of St. Joseph Apache Mission Church faces west with large double wooden doors, broad
segmental arched transoms, and wrought-iron decorative trim, flanked by stone buttresses and art-glass
windows depicting St. Clare (north) and St. Francis (south). A panel of three 15-foot-high segmental-arched
windows rises above the doors. Above the window is niche designed to hold a statue of Keteri Tekakwitha
Tekawitha, a Mohawk woman considered for sainthood (Emerson, 1980:76). A painted white cross tops the
parapeted west gable. Two 40-foot-tall stone buttresses, designed by Stanton to hold eight-foot-tall Goodhue-
esque stone angels (never installed), flank the main doors and central window set. On the northwest corner of
the building the cornerstone is carved with the date 1920. The north column of the front door a brass plaque
dedicated to the veterans of the First World War; on the south column is a brass plaque dedicated to the
veterans of the Second World War. On the southwest corner of the building stands the bell tower, topped by a
low pyramidal roof of tile and a centered brass cross, which, doubles as a lightening rod. Each of the tower’s
large belfry openings contains “tracery” accented as an oversized white Roman cross.

On the south elevation, the bell tower protrudes 20 feet from the side of the church, and frames a 12°5”
diameter art-glass window depicting a dove in a sunburst. East of the bell tower bay is the main south elevation
of three additional bays—the middle two each founded upon a 1-story stone vault topped by tile-clad subroof—
dominated by four sets 22’x 12’ thee-paneled windows approximately 8’ above ground level (Photo 3). Below
each is a 2’x 4° window 6’ above ground level, lighting the vault inside. Between the central window sets, a
stone buttress supports the largely transparent wall, a stylistic highlight of the Late Gothic Revival. To the
extreme east of this elevation is the sacristy door; beyond it is a bank of three 8’x 2’5” windows 6’ from ground
level and 1’ apart.

The east elevation, including the exterior of the five-sided interior apse, features a symmetrical set of
five windows; two are 5°x 2’5" and three are 8’x 2’5” about 4’ from ground level (Photos 3 and 4). Each of the
five facets of the apse holds a 3-panel arched window measuring 14’x12°18,” topped with a tile-clad, faceted



NPS Form 10-900-a OMB Approval No. 1024-0018
(8-86)

United States Department of the Interior
National Park Service

National Register of Historic Places
Continuation Sheet

St. Joseph Apache Mission Church
Section_? Page 7 Mescalero, Otero County, New Mexico

shed roof. About 8’ below the roof is a 3’x 2’ art-glass window installed in July 2002. Another wooden white-
painted cross tops the parapeted gable.

The north elevation mirrors the south except for the extreme western bay (Photo 4). The north
elevation’s extreme eastern end features three windows 8’x 2°5”. Adjacent to these windows is a door that
leads into the back of the church, the former vestry and now a storage room (2004) for stone restoration
equipment. The western bay’s footprint mirrors that of the bell tower, but its wall rises only to a point above
three 2°5”x 8’ windows arranged in an ascending pattern to light the stairway inside. About 22’ above the
ground a shed subroof covered with clay tiles angles back into the flat surface of the upper wall.

Interior

From the main parking lot, the pedestrian passes through a fabricated metal arch with ST. JOSEPHS” cut from
the framed sheet metal, climbs a long staircase to the church entry, enters the west-front double doors, and
encounters a 21°5”x 5’5" vestibule. Holy water fonts flank the introduction to a second set of wooden doors
leading into the nave, paved throughout in square terra cotta tiles. Interior walls are of the same sandstone
facing the exterior, with the exception of wood paneling that softens the entryway and west-face interior wall
around the entry ensemble. To the right (south) is the 18’4”x 16°daily chapel in the base of the bell tower,
intended to be a baptistery according to the blueprints, entered through a thick wooden door capped with an
arched 1’5”x 3’7" art-glass window depicting the Eucharist set in a sunburst.

Inside, 7° above the floor on the south wall is the interior of the round dove window. The upper two
levels of the bell tower are accessed through a boarded doorway above the chapel door. A wooden floor
separates the two levels, and the second level holds a primitive stairway to the bell tower level. Across from the
daily chapel is the 18’4”’x 6’ confessional, shown on the blueprints as an unbuilt entry and stairway to a choir
loft, also unbuilt but intended by Stanton to span the width of the west wall at the second level of the bell tower.

Three 22’x 10°3”’stone vaults or alcoves line the south and north interior walls of the church, appearing
to be side aisles but unconnected in line (Photo 5). Each alcove is 17°3” in length, 2’7" wide and 29’ in height.
One holds the stone baptismal font carved by Tony Leyva (see Section 8); the others hold altars, images of
saints, and artwork. Twenty 14’ pews sit 8’ from the sidewalls of the alcoves leaving 8’-wide aisles down each
side of the church and a 9’-wide aisle down the center of the nave.

Within the transept, the sanctuary rises the distance of three tile-clad steps. A 9°2”x3’11” stone altar sits
behind the 30’-wide stone arch separating the sanctuary from the apse. Above the altar hangs a large metal and
wood crucifix (Photo 6). Between the arch and the peak of the roof on the east facing wall is the 2”x 3”
sunburst window.
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The nave ceiling is supported by a series of massive, open wooden trusses separated by large-dimension
stringers, all hewn from local timber (Photo 5). Four large amber and steel fixtures light the church nave, while
six smaller ones with obscured white glass light the sanctuary. Wooden doors on each sidewall of the apse lead
to the sacristy (south, with its exterior door) and storage (north, with its corresponding exterior door). All floors
in the sacristy and storage rooms are stone and cement. Father Albert’s crypt lies beneath the sanctuary floor in
the south transept, covered by a raised white ceramic tilted tombstone.

To prevent erosion, a dry-stacked stone wall was constructed in 2003 at the bottom of the slope west of
the church. Though it is built of sandstone matching the stone of the church, this structure forming the west
boundary of the nominated property is noncontributing. The wood stairway giving access to the church from the
main parking was constructed in the 1990s. This structure and a recent steel “welcome arch” at the foot of the
stairs are considered noncontributing structures. No other intrusions have affected the immediate setting of the
nominated resource.
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Figure 7-1  Photocopied Reproduction of Main Floor Plan (Folsom & Stanton Architects, June 1, 1920)
(see reverse)
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Statement of Significance

St. Joseph Apache Mission Church, built between 1920 and 1939 on the historic Mescalero Apache Reservation
of Mescalero, Otero County, New Mexico, is an outstanding early 20™ century example of the Late Gothic
Revival style. Envisioned by Father Albert Braun, a Catholic priest who had just returned to the reservation
from distinguished service in the First World War, the church was built by members of the Mescalero
community, volunteers from the surrounding areas, and visiting Franciscan Friars, of predominantly local
materials. St. Joseph Apache Mission Church is significant under Criterion C for its architectural merit as an
outstanding example of a Late Gothic Revival-style building in New Mexico. St. Joseph Apache Mission
Church is also significant under Criterion B for its association with Father Albert Braun, OFM, who had a
tremendous impact on the people of the Mescalero Apache Reservation. Soon after the Franciscan order sent
the newly ordained priest to Mescalero in 1916, Father Braun influenced a number of tribe members to join him
in the United States’ participation in the European Theater of the First World War. Upon his return to the
reservation, he organized and inspired the Mescalero Apache to build the large and ambitious stone church of
sophisticated architectural design on their reservation. During his tenure at Mescalero, Father Albert argued
successfully for acceptance of traditional Apache social and religious customs by both the Catholic Church and
the Bureau of Indian Affairs. The church is a powerful example of cultural-blending and a reflection of the
region’s heritage. To this end, St. Joseph Apache Mission Church is the property that best represents Father
Braun’s productive years.

Cultural Foundations

The present Mescalero Apache Indian Reservation lies within the northern range of the prehistoric Jornada
Mogollon culture. The Tularosa Basin yields many Paleo-Indian sites with findings of specific artifacts unique
to this period, including fluted Folsom and Clovis projectile points and scrapers. During the culture’s Formative
Period from circa 200 to 1400 AD, people continued to practice dry and flood land agriculture while living in
pit houses and later pueblo villages. Several sites of the Formative Period including that at Mescalero have
been found in the Tularosa Basin and surrounding mountains. Artifacts include period projectile points, ground
stone, ceramics, hearths, and adobe and stone pueblo mounds. Pictographs and petroglyphs also appear at sites
dated to this period (Eidenbach, 2003). Sites from the culture’s Corona Phase ranging from circa 1100 to 1200
AD have been found in pifion-juniper areas of broad valleys near water sources. Shelters were typically shallow
square pithouses using upright stone slabs to outline them. Jornada Brown, El Paso Brown, and Chupadero
Black-on-White are the most common types of pottery shards found at these sites (Houghten, 2003).

While clearing land for the new St. Joseph Apache Mission Church at Mescalero, Father Albert and
others found evidence of such a prehistoric Jornada Mogollon stone floor, as well as pieces of pottery and other
artifacts from the Formative and Corona periods on the grounds. Subsequent investigations of the present
church site have led to the assignment of a New Mexico archeological site number. Cultural deposits contained
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within the property are part of the archaeological site known as LA 20723. These deposits contain information
important to the understanding of prehistory and history at the regional and local levels of significance.
Historic archaeological deposits are directly related to the construction of the St. Joseph Apache Mission
Church, and its predecessor, and will be considered as part of a future archaelogical nomination.

Within Apache memory, the Tularosa Basin and Sacramento Mountains have been the homeland of the
Mescalero for as long as oral history has been handed down from their ancestors. When the Spanish moved
through the area in 1534 the Mescalero Apaches seasonally roamed a vast range of present New Mexico from
the headwaters of the Rio Grande east to the Pecos River and south into Chihuahua, Mexico. The Spanish
bestowed many of the geographic names familiar today, including Sierra Blanca—White Mountain—the snow-
covered peak marking the center of creation, according to the Mescalero tradition (Opler 1983 a:432-3).

The 17™ century blazing of El Camino Real between Mexico City and Santa Fe brought further Spanish
exploration of the region. Spanish Catholic missionaries and colonists established villages and traded provisions
for salt, pifion nuts, animal hides and woolen articles. Mescalero Apaches east of the Rio Grande and
Chiricahua Apaches west of the river defended their lands as long as possible and resisted the Catholic
missionary attempts to convert them to Christianity (Opler 1983a420). Because of Apache resistance, the
Tularosa Basin saw very little settlement until the 18™ century when the Spanish began their military campaigns
in southern New Mexico. Captain Francisco Amangual led one such campaign in 1788 through the area defined
by Sierra Blanca, the Sacramento Mountains, San Nicolas and San Augustin Spring (Wilson 1975:9-10). The
campaign ended in 1810 with a peace treaty signed by the Spanish and Mescalero governments (Wessel, et al
1997:15).

Mexico gained its independence from Spain in 1821, and opened trade at the end of El Camino Real
with the United States and its own westering trail to Santa Fe. Despite continued Apache hostility, the Mexican
government established the Dofia Ana Bend colony in 1843 as their first permanent south-central settlement in
New Mexico under the direction of Don Jose Maria Costales, by a grant from the Governor of Chihuahua,
Mexico (HSNM, 1938: 317). Costales positioned his settlement along EI Camino Real and the Rio Grande just
before accession of New Mexico Territory to the United States in 1848 (Wilson 1975:10, Couchman 1990:21).
Both the Spanish Colonial and New Mexican government tried to maintain control over the Camino Real trade
route but soon lost to the new American interests, particularly fur traders, moving into the region. In 1846 as the
U.S.-Mexican War began, Brigadier General S.W. Kearny took control of New Mexico territory for the U. S.
government. The Treaty of Guadalupe Hidalgo in 1848 made New Mexico, including the Mescalero homeland,
U.S. Territory (Wessel, et al. 1997:16; Wilson 1975:18).



NPS Form 10-900-a OMB Approval No. 1024-0018
(8-86)

United States Department of the Interior
National Park Service

National Register of Historic Places
Continuation Sheet

St. Joseph Apache Mission Church
Section 8 Page 12 Mescalero, Otero County, New Mexico

Apache and U.S. Relations in New Mexico Territory

In July 1851 the Mescaleros were invited to Santa Fe for a Peace Council. Thirty chiefs and leaders accepted
and agreed to a treaty promising ‘“Perpetual Peace and Amity.” But like other treaties before, Congress failed to
ratify the document (Worcester, 1979:57). On July 1, 1853, the U.S. territorial government signed its first
treaty with the Mescalero Apache, establishing their reservation centered around Fort Stanton, New Mexico,
and extending southwest to Sierra Blanca, Three Rivers and La Luz. However, a survey and Congressional
ratification never followed the agreement, allowing the boundaries of the reservation to be changed several
times by subsequent executive orders and acts of Congress. (Today the reservation is an area of 720 square
miles and home to people originating from four different Apache bands.)

American Indian policy in the mid 19th century included an effort to convince the Apache that Ussen,
the Apache’s single deity, had turned his favor to the white man and had given him dominance over the land
and all its peoples (Sonnichsen, 1982:4). The Mescalero, Chiricahua, Lipan and Warm Springs bands of the
Apache stood up to this and other persecutions, breaking the 1853 peace treaty and initiating the Apache Indian
Wars. With the Gadsden Purchase in 1854 the United States acquired additions to Arizona and New Mexico,
now encompassing more traditional lands of the Mimbrenos, Mogollones, Pinalenos, Chiricahuas, Mescaleros
and others (Worcester, 1979:60). After continued misunderstandings and warfare, and profound troubles with
federally franchised Indian agents, in 1861 the federal Office of Indian Affairs established a distinct agency on
the loosely defined Mescalero Reservation.

President Ulysses S. Grant's reforming "Indian Peace Policy" in 1869 stipulated that the civil
administration of each Indian agency was to be entrusted to religious denominations already established among
the tribes. These denominations would have the right to nominate agents, subject to the approval of the
Secretary of the Interior, and likewise call for their removal if suspected of misdeeds. Protestant churches
received the majority of the agencies throughout the West, with eight assigned to the Catholic Church. In 1871
Vincent Colyer, a Quaker passionate about the rights of Native Americans, received permission from
Washington to meet with tribes throughout the Southwest and officially establish reservations for them. By
1872 Mescalero hosted 350 Lipan Apaches from Texas and 310 Gilenos form the Chiricahua and Mimbres
mountains of Arizona and New Mexico.

On May 27, 1873, President Ulysses S. Grant established the Mescalero Reservation by executive order,
with headquarters at Fort Stanton (Sonnichsen, 1982:150-157). Even then boundaries were not surveyed and
soon trouble broke out between Anglo and Mexican squatters. Because of continued corruption within the Fort
Stanton Indian agency, Indian Agent A. J. Curtis in the spring of 1873 moved the Mescalero headquarters 40
miles west to Copeland’s ranch and then to Blazer’s Mill. Curtis prompted an investigation of corruption, but
years of reputedly bad agents left distrust among the Mescalero people. On October 20, 1875, a new executive
order extended the reservation into the Sacramento Mountains due in large part to sympathetic Indian
Commissioner Francis A. Walker (Sonnichsen, 1979:160).
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In October 1880 during a bloody battle at Trea Castullos, Apache warrior Victorio and most of his war
party were killed, including a number of New Mexico Mescaleros disenchanted with reservations and corrupt
agents. In 1881 troops were removed from the reservation, but these remained difficult times for Mescaleros.
Apache leader Nana along with 25 Mescalero warriors joined Apache leader Geronimo in hiding in the Sierra
Madres of Mexico (Worcester, 1979:233). On March 27, 1886, Geronimo and a group of warriors with women
and children surrendered to American General George Crook in Mexico. By the time of the Geronimo
surrender, Mescalero Apache were scattered throughout New Mexico's Sacramento Mountains in small groups.
With the knowledge that the Anglo government had won, the Mescalero Apache and other Apaches tried to
survive very difficult lives on the reservation.

Shortly after the Mexico surrender in 1886, the U.S. Army transported 77 Apaches, mostly Chiricahua,
to Fort Marion, Florida. Another 397 Warm Springs and Chiricahua, including many Apache scouts enlisted to
help General Crook capture Geronimo, and the others were sent from Arizona to prison at Fort Marion
(Sonnichsen, 1979:223). Most died before their release or reassignments to different reservations, but those
who survived the retched conditions in Florida and then Fort Sill, Oklahoma Territory, were sent to New
Mexico to join family members who were married to Mescaleros or who already had sought refuge with the
Mescaleros.

Meanwhile the Catholic Indian Bureau originated in 1874 by J. Roosevelt Barley, Archbishop of
Baltimore, for the protection and promotion of Catholic Indian mission interests in the United States. The first
established mission in Mescalero was Catholic, yet no records show that the Catholic Church or priests had any
prior or formal involvement in the Mescalero government. The Indian Peace Policy was in force from 1874 to
1882, but after its discontinuance the Catholic Indian Bureau remained to serve established missions.

The legacy of early Spanish and French Catholic evangelism in the New World carried well into the 19"
century and the United States. A Catholic Priest, Father Jose Sambrano Tafoya, a native of Lincoln County,
New Mexico, assigned to the area was the first recorded missionary to visit Mescalero. He baptized 173
Apaches into the Catholic faith in 1883, firmly establishing Christianity on the reservation (Sonnichsen,
1979:236, Cummings, 1995:74). By 1887 Catholic missionaries regularly visited the Mescalero reservation to
spread Christianity, help protect aboriginal rights, and later to help with the reservation's schools. Not until
1902, however, were Catholic masses regularly celebrated on the reservation. At that time French priest Father
Lucien Migeon was assigned to St. Francis De Paula in nearby Tularosa. Father Migeon frequently visited
Mescalero and offered Mass at the home of James A. Carroll, U.S. Office of Indian Affairs superintendent on
the reservation from 1902-1912.

By 1902 the Mescaleros were able to make a meager living for themselves on the reservation and their
children were permitted to attend reservation schools. But by the time Geronimo died in 1909 at Fort Sill,
Mescalero lands were in real danger of being usurped by gold and land hungry Anglos through the 1887 Dawes
Act that allowed parcel claims within reservation boundaries. Advocates of the Apaches and Mescalero felt that
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by increasing the local Apache population, the Mescalero had a better chance of holding onto reservation lands.
With the help of Father Migeon, 37 Lipans were allowed to leave Mexico and join relatives in Mescalero,
bringing the number of Apaches at Mescalero to 462. Consequently the Lipan as well as the Chiricahua and
Warm Springs Apaches being released from Fort Sill were welcome to join the Mescalero Apache on the
reservation.

On January 6, 1912, New Mexico became the 47™ state of the Union, an event that only amplified the
Mescaleros' struggle to save their reservation from squatters. In the spring of 1913, after 27 years of
incarceration, 127 Chiricahua and Warm Springs Apache adults and their children joined the Mescalero. Of
these were the surviving chiefs Naiche, Chato, Martine, Kieta, Kaetennae, Noche, and Toclanny. Chihuahua,
Nana and Lozen had died at Fort Sill. (Ball, 1988:106-13, 122-193, Worcester, 1979:324).

The popularity of Father Lucien’s Mescalero ministry and the growth of the local population led in 1912 to
construction of the reservation’s first Catholic church (just west of the present church).

Previously services had been celebrated in private homes, such as that of Mrs. Blasa Miller (Haugh,
1961). At the request of the bishop of El Paso, Father Lucien built a church of local materials including adobe
bricks (parts of which are incorporated into the present rectory offices), and named the mission for St. Joseph,
carpenter and emblematic builder, and husband of Mary the mother of Jesus.

From 1912 until 1919 an adobe church stood to the west of the present sanctuary (Haugh, 1961). After
the first church, which had deteriorated and was sliding from its foundations, was demolished in 1919, Mass
and other services were held in the 1912-1913 dining hall until the walls of the new church began to rise. When
weather permitted services were held within the walls of the new church as it was being built. The dining hall
still serves its original purpose with a kitchen today.

In 1914 the Catholic Indian Bureau requested that the Franciscan Order assume responsibility for the
quarter-century-old Mescalero mission. Thereafter Father Ferdinand Ortiz from the Catholic Diocese of El
Paso, Texas, became the first Franciscan priest to make regular visits to Mescalero from his assignment at
Tularosa. In 1916 the mission’s administration transferred from El Paso to the Province of St. Barbara in
California upon formation of that Franciscan province. (St. Joseph Mission is staffed by the province today,
along with a religious sister from the St. Louis order, Sisters of Saint Francis of Our Lady of Perpetual Help

since 1982.)
Father Albert Braun, O.F.M.

The Franciscan Province of St. Barbara, California, Province assigned Father Albert Braun, O.F.M. (Order of
Franciscans Minor) to Mescalero in 1916 as the first Catholic priest to live full-time on the reservation (Figure
8-1). Born John William Braun in 1889 to German immigrants at Los Angeles, California, Father Albert arrived
during a period of movement toward assimilation among Native Americans and the Apache.
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Despite his warm reception at Mescalero, Father Albert grew obsessed with news of the war in Europe,
and applied repeatedly to his bishop for permission to join the U.S. Army chaplain corps. Father Albert’s
patriotism might have been partly motivated by an official path of assimilation offered to Native Americans,
who were promised full U.S. citizenship following voluntary military service. Several reservation men
coincidentally volunteered for the Army as well. Whatever his primary motivation, Father Albert received
permission to enlist from his superior, and joined the Army in June 1918 at Fort Bliss in El Paso, trained for
chaplain service in Kentucky, and arrived at the battlefields of France in September (Figure 8-2). He soon saw
action in one of the bloodiest battles involving Americans, the Meuse-Argonne offensive, during which he was
wounded but stayed on the field to minister other wounded and dying soldiers. Father Albert received a Purple
Heart ribbon and medal for his wounds. He was also nominated for the Distinguished Service Cross but was
denied, reportedly because his superiors had never heard of a chaplain meriting a superlative medal (Emerson,
1973:54-62).

Mescalero veterans returning from the war were granted U.S. citizenship in 1919 (preceding the
government’s general granting of Indian citizenships in 1924). On September 13 of that year Father Albert also
found himself reassigned to Mescalero, returning from post-war occupation duty in Luxembourg and final
service at the Presidio in San Francisco, California. During his tour in Europe, Father Albert said he received
inspiration to build a church like the great architectural marvels he had seen in France, Germany and
Luxembourg, to honor the Apache volunteers and all those who had given their lives in the conflict. Without
funds other than $100 from his own Army pay, but with church and tribal permission he set upon a grand
adventure to build an edifice completely with resources from within the Apache reservation. Father Albert also
remained in the Army Reserve, using this periodic source of money for the new stone building (Emerson,
1973).

William C. Stanton, Architect

Father Paul Francis, a New York Catholic priest who served in the Army with Father Albert, had told Father
Albert about a prominent Catholic architect in Pennsylvania. Father Albert obtained necessary permissions and
official railroad passes from friends for a visit to Philadelphia, probably in the fall of 1919, where he found an
eager designer in William C. Stanton. The architect, born in Philadelphia, received his bachelor’s degree in
architecture from the University of Pennsylvania in 1907, winning a number of Beaux-Arts design awards.
Upon graduation Stanton, university classmate Donald Folsom and John H. Crowe established their own firm as
Folsom, Crowe & Stanton. After 1910 the firm settled into the configuration of Folsom & Stanton, designers of
record for the Mescalero church, and remained in operation until Stanton's death in 1942 (Emerson, 1973:75;
Philadelphia Inquirer, August 4, 1942; Kervick, 1962:126).
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Throughout his independent architectural career Stanton maintained ties to Philadelphia’s city
government, serving it in various capacities that included designing a city hall annex in 1923. From 1933 to
1935 Stanton served Philadelphia as the architect in charge of city planning. In 1935 Stanton’s arena of
operation was further enlarged with appointment as principal architect for the U. S. Resettlement
Administration in Washington, D.C. From 1936 to 1937 he became senior town planner for the Resettlement
Administration. Stanton's memberships included the American Institute of Architects, which he joined in 1922,
and a lifelong association with the Knights of Columbus fraternal organization of the Catholic Church.
(Kervick, 1962:126)

Father Albert later recounted that when he met with William Stanton in 1919, the architect inquired
about funds to build the huge church. Father Albert answered that he had $100 left from his Army pay.
Availability of experienced labor was the next question; the Franciscan priest responded that he could provide a
few Apache volunteers and perhaps a stonemason from California. When the architect asked about equipment,
Father Albert replied proudly, “I have three shovels.” Stanton thereupon donated the blueprints and his advice,
though he never traveled to the building site to observe its progress (Cave, 2003).

Father Albert envisioned the new church sitting atop the hill with a commanding view of the old
church’s location, the heart of the Mescalero business community, and far to the west the Tularosa basin.
Reservation officials made an informal gift of land that surrounded the first church and included the knoll
where Father Albert hoped to build the new church (Figure 8-3). With plans finally in hand, groundbreaking for
the new sanctuary’s foundation started in 1919, and the cornerstone was set in place in 1920.

Skilled Craftsmen and Mentors

Antonio (Tony) Maria Leyva, a stonemason from Santa Barbara, California, came to work with Father Albert
soon after the new church construction began. Born on March 7, 1861, Leyva was the grandson of Juan Jose
Leyva (earlier spelled Leyba), a member of the family of craftsmen who in the late 1700s helped Father
Junipero Serra build California’s Franciscan missions (Figure 8-4). Young Tony Leyva served in the U.S.
Merchant Marines as a cook, and then entered a stonemasonry business after returning to Santa Barbara. Father
Albert and Leyva became friends while Father Albert studied in the seminary in Leyva’s hometown.

When the aging Leyva heard of Father Albert’s plan to build a stone church at Mescalero, he
volunteered to help and moved to New Mexico. Leyva asked in exchange only for room and board, with the
promise to be returned upon his death to Santa Barbara for burial next to his late wife. Leyva was about 60
years old when he arrived in Mescalero with his own tools, and was assigned by Father Albert as foreman of
construction. Almost blind at the end of his career, Leyva carved the marble baptismal font in one of the
alcoves of St. Joseph Apache Mission church. In his spare time he also carved an ornate water fountain, which
Father Albert had planned to place in front of the church to make use of the spring that ran down the property.
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The fountain is now set in front of the friary at St. Francis De Paula in nearby Tularosa. Tony Leyva died on
June 4, 1936, and Father Albert accompanied his body back to Santa Barbara for burial as promised. (Emerson,
1980:97-80, 156)

Brother Salesius (born Francis de Sales) Kraft, OFM, a German Army artilleryman in the First World
War, also joined the small team of skilled builders who taught tribe members to construct the church. Born on
February 24, 1886, in Germany, Brother Salesius entered the Franciscan order in his 20s. He interrupted his
priesthood studies from 1914-1918 to serve in the, returning to make his solemn profession as a follower of St.
Francis on February 21, 1923. Brother Salesius was assigned to the United States and the St. Barbara Province,
bringing to his new home excellent carpentry skills. In 1928 the provincial in Santa Barbara sent Brother
Salesius to help Father Albert for five weeks to help build living quarters for exiled Mexican friars.
Brother Salesius extended his stay for six months helping Father Albert with work on the church. On July 13,
1928, Brother Salesius died from injuries sustained while unloading large stones for the construction of the
Mission (Braun, 1928; Province of St. Barbara Necrology, 1928, Vol.2). Brother Salesius Kraft was buried
outside to the right (south) of the front doors of the church (Cave, 2003).

Protracted Construction

On March 2, 1928, the U.S. Congress officially deeded the 10 acres of land holding the new and old St. Joseph
Apache Mission churches and the ancient cultural site to the Franciscan Province of St. Barbara. Now a decade
after construction commenced, Father Albert scraped together enough money to hire additional help, and
gathered other needed materials to continue construction. In the fall of 1929 he learned of an El Paso
stonemason, Jose Mesa, considered one of the best stonemasons in the area but no doubt out of work due to the
expanding Great Depression. Father Albert made a deal to pay Mesa and his sons $2 a day plus room and board
at Mescalero. '

Meanwhile Father Albert tended to many other duties, including the accommodation of Mexican friars
exiled to the U.S. following the Mexican Revolution and persecution of the Catholic Church in Mexico between
1927 and 1940. In 1933 Father Albert combined his Army Reserve status with a chaplain’s position in the
Civilian Conservation Corps, President Franklin Delano Roosevelt’s quasi-military organization for youth
working on outdoor public works projects. This assignment maintained Father Albert's connections with the
military and brought in additional cash for the church project.

By 1934 the Mescalero tribal government’s work on an economic development plan bore success, along
with reorganization of the tribe’s education system. Under the Federal Indian Reorganization Act of 1936 the
Mescalero, Chiricahua, Lipan, and Warm Springs Bands—collectively living in Mescalero—organized as the
Mescalero Apache Tribe. Cattle and crops proved profitable for them and by 1937 most reservation Apaches
had moved out of makeshift shelters and into houses.
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Jose Mesa and his sons worked on the mission church until 1939, completing its massive stone walls.
The building's tile roof was soon finished along with its floors, all laid with tile fired at the La Luz Pottery plant
in La Luz Canyon. Braulio Daiz, who lived in Bent and worked at a quarry east of Alamogordo that donated the
marble slabs, carved the marble altar. Lighting fixtures installed by this time were designed and made in
Juarez, Mexico. Still lacking window frames, the unfinished church was nevertheless dedicated on July 4,
1939, as a memorial to those who lost their lives in the First World War (Sonnichsen, 1982: 271-272).

Father Albert in the Second World War

In the summer of 1940 as Germany forced the surrender of France and other Allies, Father Albert sought re-
activation into the Army in case of U.S. entry into the war. On November 1, 1940, he reported for duty with the
Army’s first peacetime draftees at Fort Sam Houston in San Antonio, Texas, as a chaplain in the 2n Infantry
Division. After his insistence once again on a foreign posting, he and several Apache volunteers from the
Mescalero Reservation and New Mexico’s Tularosa Basin reached the Army’s 92" Coastal Artillery at
Corrigedor in the Philippines for defense against Japan. After the fall of American units there on May 7, 1942,
the Japanese forced the remnants of the Philippine command, including Father Albert, along with Americans of
the infamous Bataan Death March into prison camps. While still in the Philippines, Father Albert also smuggled
food and medication to other POWs with the help of German missionaries working in Manila. After more
horrific experiences, he eventually reached a prison camp in Japan at Omori, outside Tokyo, and served a total
of 1,210 days as a prisoner of war, suffering beatings, disease and hunger. Throughout these ordeals, Father
Albert performed Mass and buried the dead.

By the time Americans liberated the prison camp at Omori on August 29, 1945, Father Albert, a man
taller than six feet, had dropped from 195 pounds to 115 pounds in his 40 months of captivity. Arriving back in
the U.S. in late September he received Army hospital care in San Francisco and El Paso, then returned to
Mescalero that fall. Once again at St. Joseph Apache Mission, on Armistice (later Veterans) Day, November 11,
1945, Father Albert re-dedicated the church in memory of those who gave their lives in pursuit of peace during
both world wars (Figure 8-5).

The next November in a special ceremony at the Mission, Father Albert received the Legion of Merit
and the Silver Star for his own service. He was honored by two generals, 10 colonels, an Army band and
around 1,500 others attending. By the end of 1946 Father Albert's war-damaged legs forced him to give up
missionary work in Mescalero. He returned to active duty as a chaplain in the Army at Brooke General
Hospital in San Antonio. Later, to assist his recuperation in a more tropical climate, the Army assigned Father
Albert to the Marshall Islands for six months, where he was assigned to Eniwetok in early January 1948. There
he participated in the secretive Operation Sandstone, the second series of tests to “proof-test” atomic weapons.
After Operation Sandstone, Father Braun was stationed in Hawaii for two years.
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Returning to the mainland in 1949, Father Albert was stationed as a chaplain at the Presidio at San
Francisco until he retired as a Lieutenant Colonel in the Army in October of that year (Sonnichsen, 1982: 273;
Cave, 2003). After his military retirement the Franciscans assigned Father Albert to St. Mary’s Parish in
Phoenix, Arizona, where he worked as a chaplain and teacher during the next three years. He volunteered to
work in the poorest Mexican-American areas of Phoenix and helped build the Sacred Heart Church, three
chapels and a school. Father Albert celebrated his 75th birthday at his old parish in Mescalero, but spent his
remaining working and retirement years in the Phoenix area. When he died there on March 6, 1983, at the age
of 93, Apache tribesmen brought his body back to Mescalero and laid him to rest inside the church sanctuary,
just west of the altar.

The Apaches and St. Joseph Apache Mission after the Second World War

When Father Albert came back to Mescalero in 1945, many aspects of the church had not been finished,
including the stone-step entrance, the spring-fed fountain, the stone retaining wall in front of the church, nor the
18-foot-tall statue of St. Joseph that was to stand on the west extreme of the wall. The 12-foot-tall carved stone
angels to top the buttresses on each side of the front doors had not been started. To date none of those planned
details have been completed. Windows, fortunately, finally were ordered from a manufacturer in El Paso and
installed in the early 1950s.

Despite agricultural and housing successes in the 1930s, the Mescalero population saw few
improvements through the Depression and the Second World War. Because of the Indian Claims Commission
Act of August 13, 1946, the Mescalero Apache Tribe hired a Washington, D.C. law firm to enter a petition for
loss of tribal land and won $8.5 million. This enabled the tribe to develop an outdoor sports enterprise for
tourists, and upgrade schools and water supplies. The reservation began to lure tourist dollars by opening the
Apache Summit Lodge and restaurant in September 1956. In 1963 the tribe purchased the Ski Apache resort
and in 1974 built the Inn of the Mountain Gods, a resort complete with hotel, restaurants, lake, and golf course.
In 1968 the tribal council built a large tribal headquarters a half a mile west of the St. Joseph Apache Mission
(Sonnichsen, 1982:294-299).

For many years the staff and parishioners of Apache Mission sought help to save the church from
deteriorating beyond the point of restoration. In the late 1990s the Diocese of Las Cruces considered
condemning St. Joseph Apache Mission Church because of its deteriorated condition, and because the cost of
correcting the problem seemed beyond the means of the diocese. At that time Brother Peter A. Boegel, OFM,
helped form a group of concerned parishioners with the immediate goal to raise funds for a restoration
contractor. With the first $24,262 raised, Bar M Construction from La Luz, New Mexico, began a test panel of
stone repointing and estimated the cost of repairing the entire building. An estimate of $1.5 million was not an
amount that the parish and diocese could raise quickly so their leaders dispatched Brother Peter and local
parishioner Harry Vasile for training in historic stone preservation. The plan was to have these two men
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perform the restoration work while an ongoing search for funds continued. A goal of this strategy was to keep
the Mission open to the visiting public and for services during the restoration.

Full-time restoration work began in February 2000, with immediate attention given to the most seriously
deteriorated area of the church. Because the original construction of the church spanned a period of more than
25 years, much of the building had been fully exposed to the elements during that time. A combination of
inexperienced labor, the poor quality of lime mortar initially used, and the delay in closing the building
envelope had all contributed to the building's mounting problems. In the past, volunteers repaired the mortar in
places using high-Portland-content cement, which accelerated the remaining lime mortar’s breakdown.

The current restoration program (2004) is dedicated to restoring the church with traditional high-lime-
content mortar, using scientifically controlled procedures in its preparation and application. Five years into an
estimated 14-year restoration plan, the project is approximately 30 % finished. To date the restoration
committee has raised more than $652,460 and the project has become an overall community effort. Fourteen
people from the Mescalero Apache Reservation and surrounding area have received training in the art of
historic stone restoration. The Mescalero Apache Tribe provides heavy equipment and operators when needed,
and many tribal members and parishioners contribute funds and volunteer their labor to help with the church
restoration, much in the tradition of its original construction.
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Figure 8-1  Father Albert Braun, O.F.M, Ordination, 1916
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Figure 8-2 Father Braun, First World War
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Figure 8-3  Church Construction c. 1923
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Figure 8-4  Tony Leyva (undated)
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Figure 8-5  Armistice Day, November 11, 1945
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Henrietta Stockel, Author of Women of the Apache Nation, Jan. 24, 2003.
Letters

Dorothy Cave Aldrich to Mary Serna , Jan. 9, 2003.

Father Albert Braun, OFM, to Monsignor William Hughes, Aug. 5, 1928.
Father Albert Braun, OFM, to Monsignor Quinn, April 29, 1961.

Father Solanus Haugh, OFM, to Monsignor Quinn April 29,1961.

Transcript of “The Catholic Church and the Apaches” (of Mescalero) a Radio Speech Broadcast from Station
KLAG, in Alamogordo, NM, Feb. 25, 1956.

William Stanton to Father Albert Braun, OFM, June 21, 1920, March 28, 1932, Dec. 16,1933, Feb. 18, 1933.
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Geographical Data

Verbal Boundary Description:

The property is a rectangular parcel measuring 260 x 150 feet, with the church placed in the east-center of the
rectangle. The northwest corner is 130 feet approximate northwest of the northwest corner of the foundation of
the church and formed by the tangent of a stone retaining wall. The southeast corner is 40 feet approximate
southeast of the southeast corner of the foundation of the church. See accompanying U.S.G.S. quadrangle map
and continuation sheet10-30. The verbal boundary description is based on a December 6, 2003 site map of LA
20723.

Boundary Justification:

The boundary includes the church, its site and its immediate physical and historical setting. The boundary
excludes a historical resource, the altered Parish Hall/Rectory, approximately 200 feet approximate west of the
west boundary of the nominated property. Though this complex is historically associated with the church, it has
lost integrity through multiple, post-period of significance additions. Situated at a lower elevation, between a
parking lot and the church, the Parish Hall/Rectory is physically disconnected from the nominated property.
The boundary additionally excludes proximate modern intrusions as well as historic and prehistoric artifact
scatters which will be addressed in a future archaelogical district nomination.
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Map of Nominated Property Boundary
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The following information pertains to all photographs unless otherwise noted:

St. Joseph Apache Mission Church

Mescalero, Otero County, New Mexico

Photographer: John Murphey

July 2004

Negatives located at the New Mexico Historic Preservation Division, Santa Fe

Photo 1of 6
Setting and west (front) elevation
Camera facing east

Photo 2 of 6
West (front) elevation
Camera facing northeast

Photo 3 of 6
South elevation
Camera facing northwest

Photo 4 of 6
East and north elevations
Camera facing southwest

Photo 5 of 6
Interior
Camera facing east

Photo 6 of 6
Altar
Camera facing east



